THE NA/K-ATPASE-MEDIATED SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION AS A TARGET FOR NEW DRUG DEVELOPMENT

Zijian Xie and Joe Xie

Department of Pharmacology and Medicine, Medical College of Ohio, Toledo, OH 43614, USA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Na/K-ATPase structure
- 4. Molecular mechanism of Na/K-ATPase-mediated signal transduction
 - 4.1. Na/K-ATPase as a pseudo-receptor tyrosine kinase
 - 4.2. Na/K-ATPase signals from caveolae
 - 4.3. CTS as agonists of the signaling Na/K-ATPase
 - 4.4. Regulation of cardiac function by the signaling Na/K-ATPase
 - 4.4.1. CTS and inotropy
 - 4.4.2. CTS and hypertrophic growth
 - 4.4.3. Endogenous CTS and down-regulation of the Na/K-ATPase in the diseased heart
- 5. Targeting the signaling NaK-ATPase for new drug development
 - 5.1. Development of antagonistic agents
 - 5.2. Development of agonistic agents
- 6. Conclusion
- 7. Acknowledgments
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

The Na/K-ATPase, or Na⁺ pump, is a member of the P-type ATPase superfamily. In addition to pumping ions, the Na/K-ATPase is a receptor that not only regulates the function of protein kinases, but also acts as a scaffold, capable of tethering different proteins into a signalplex. The signaling Na/K-ATPase resides in caveolae and forms a "binary receptor" with the tyrosine kinase Src. Endogenous cardiotonic steroids and digitalis drugs such as ouabain act as agonists and provoke this binary receptor, resulting in tyrosine phosphorylation of the proteins that are either associated with, or in close proximity to, the signaling Na/K-ATPase. Subsequently, this initiates protein kinase cascades including ERKs and PKC isozymes. It also increases mitochondrial production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and regulates intracellular calcium concentration. Like other receptors, activation of the Na/K-ATPase/Src by ouabain induces the endocytosis of the plasma membrane Na/K-ATPase. Significantly, this newly appreciated signaling function of the Na/K-ATPase appears to play an important role in the pathogenesis of many cardiovascular diseases, therefore serving as an important target for development of novel therapeutic agents.

2. INTRODUCTION

J. Skou discovered the Na/K-ATPase or Na⁺ pump in 1957 as an energy-transducing ion pump (1). Since then, extensive research has been conducted to characterize the pumping function and the regulation of the pump (2–4). The pump, composed of both catalytic alpha and regulatory beta subunits, also functions as a receptor for cardiotonic steroids (CTS) that consist of digitalis drugs and endogenous digitalis-like substances such as ouabain and marinobufagenin. The digitalis drugs increase intracellular Ca²⁺ and contractility in the myocardium, and thus have been used for the management of congestive heart failure for more than 200 years (5-7). Because CTS inhibit the Na/K-ATPase, the physiological and pharmacological functions of CTS were thought secondary to their effects on intracellular ion concentrations. However, this notion has been challenged by recent new findings, showing that the Na/K-ATPase also possesses a signaling function. Specifically, the signaling Na/K-ATPase interacts with protein kinases as well as other membrane and cytosolic proteins. Binding of CTS to the signaling Na/K-ATPase can activate protein kinases and generates secondary messages independent of changes in intracellular ion concentration (8-16). The purpose of this article is to provide a discussion of Na/K-ATPase-mediated signal

transduction and the potential utilization of this signaling function as a target for new drug development.

3. Na/K-ATPase STRUCTURE

Na/K-ATPase belongs to the family of P-type ATPases and consists of two noncovalently linked alpha and beta subunits (2-4.17). The alpha subunit (about 112 kDa) contains the ATP, digitalis, and other ligand binding sites, and is considered as the "catalytic subunit". The beta subunit is essential for the assembly of the functional enzyme. Several alpha and beta subunits have been identified and functionally characterized (2-4), and the isoforms are expressed in a tissue-specific manner. The alpha₁ isoform is found in all cells. The alpha₂ and alpha₃ isoforms are expressed in skeletal muscle, neuronal tissue, and cardiac myocytes. Finally, the alpha₄ isoform is found only in sperm. Both SERCA and the Na/K-ATPase belong to the type-II class of P-type ATPases. Recently, the crystal structure of SERCA1a has been determined at 2.6 Å resolution (18). Because the structure of the Na/K-ATPase has not been identified, we will use structure of SERCA as a template for further discussion of the Na/K-ATPase. In a recent review article, Sweadner and Donnet (19) revealed the structural similarities between these two enzymes and concluded that the Na/K-ATPase, like SERCA, contains four distinct functional domains. The A domain consists of the N-terminus and the first cytoplasmic loop connected to transmembrane helices M2 and M3. Although there is great sequence variation at the N-terminus between SERCA and the Na/K-ATPase, both enzymes appear to have the same two alpha-helix motifs. More importantly, based on the structure of SERCA, the A domain is highly exposed for the binding of other proteins. The enzyme also has the highly conserved phosphorylation (P) domain that is close to the membrane and a relatively isolated nucleotide-binding (N) domain that is found to interact with many cytoskeletal and signaling proteins (20-23).

4. MOLECULAR MECHANISM OF Na/K-ATPASE-MEDIATED SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION

Na/K-ATPase serves as a receptor for CTS that include plant-derived digitalis drugs such as digoxin and ouabain, and vertebrate-derived aglycones such as bufalin and marinobufagenin. Although CTS have been considered only as drugs since their discovery, recent studies have identified both ouabain and marinobufagenin as endogenous steroids whose production and secretion are regulated by multiple pathological or physiological stimuli including angiotensin II and epinephrine (24-27). Early studies have demonstrated that the Na/K-ATPase, like many membrane transporters (28,29), interacts with multiple soluble and membrane proteins (21-23) and that CTS regulates gene expression and cell growth (30,31). Recent work on the Na/K-ATPase has made the connection between the Na/K-ATPase-mediated protein interaction and CTS-evoked changes in cellular function, showing that the Na/K-ATPase can transmit extracellular CTS signal via mechanisms independent of changes in intracellular Na+ and K⁺ concentrations (32).

4.1. Na/K-ATPase as a pseudo-receptor tyrosine kinase

We and others have shown that the binding of ouabain to the Na/K-ATPase stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation of multiple proteins in the absence of changes in intracellular ion concentration and that increases in tyrosine phosphorylation play a pivotal role in ouabaininduced changes in gene expression and cells growth (10-16). Because the Na/K-ATPase has no intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity, we speculated that the pump might function as a cytokine receptor, employing non-receptor tyrosine kinases such as Src to form a pseudo-receptor tyrosine kinase (33). Indeed, we and others demonstrated that ouabain activated Src kinase in primary cultures of rat cardiac myocytes, canine smooth muscle cells as well as several cell lines including the pig kidney LLC-PK1 cells (11,12). Furthermore, inhibition of Src or knockout of Src family kinases abolished ouabain-activated signaling pathways including the Ras/Raf/ERK cascade and mitochondrial production of ROS (14,15). It also prevents ouabain-induced endocytosis of the Na/K-ATPase (34). Mechanistically, the ouabain-activated Na/K-ATPase/Src complex recruited and assembled multiple proteins into various signalplexes. For example, we found that the ouabain-activated Na/K-ATPase/Src transactivated EGF receptor, which in turn recruited Shc and Grb to the complex, resulting in the activation of the Ras/Raf/ERK cascade (14,15). In addition, the ouabainactivated Na/K-ATPase/Src complex was able to recruit and activate PI3-kinase, which in turn assembled endocytotic cargo for removal of the activated Na/K-ATPase signalplex from the plasma membrane (34). Apparently, this process not only terminates/targets the signaling complexes to intracellular compartments, but also reduces overall pumping capacity of the cells due to the loss of plasma membrane Na/K-ATPase (35).

4.2. Na/K-ATPase signals from caveolae

Because the Na/K-ATPase has to interact with Src, EGFR, and other proteins to transmit the ouabain signal, we proposed that the signaling Na/K-ATPase might be preassembled with its partners in membrane microdomains such as caveolae. Caveolae are membrane microdomains that were first identified as flask-shaped vesicular invaginations of plasma membrane enriched in cholesterol. glycosphingolipids, and sphingomyelin (36,37). Caveolins are 21-24 kDa membrane-associated scaffolding proteins that serve as a protein marker of caveolae (36). Caveolins directly interact with many signaling proteins such as Src family kinases via the scaffolding domain's binding to the caveolin-binding motifs of the target proteins. Based on the observation that the Na/K-ATPase alpha subunit contains two conserved caveolin-binding motifs, we and others have recently tested the role of caveolin and caveolae in the Na/K-ATPasemediated signal transduction. In many different cells including cardiac myocytes, smooth muscle and renal epithelial cells, the Na/K-ATPase is co-localized with caveolin-1 and concentrated in caveolae (16,38,39). GST pull-down assay showed that Na/K-ATPase bound to the N-terminus of caveolin-1. Significantly, ouabain regulated this interaction in a time- and dose-dependent manner and stimulated tyrosine phosphorylation of caveolin-1 in a Srcdependent manner in LLC-PK1 cells. When added to the isolated membrane fractions, ouabain increased tyrosine phosphorylation of proteins from the isolated caveolae, but not other membrane fractions. Inhibition of Src or removal prevented ouabain-induced phosphorylation of the membrane proteins. Interestingly, ouabain also induced the formation of a Na/K-ATPase/Src/caveolin complex in the isolated caveolae preparations as it did in live cells (16). Clearly, the caveolar Na/K-ATPase possessed an ion-pumping independent signaling function when it interacts with its partners. Consistent with this notion, depletion of either cholesterol by methyl β-cyclodextrin or caveolin-1 by siRNA re-distributed the Na/K-ATPase and Src from the caveolae to other compartments, and abolished ouabaininduced recruitment of Src to the Na/K-ATPase signaling complex and the subsequent activation of ERKs. These findings suggest that both caveolin and cholesterol are important for the signaling Na/K-ATPase to interact with its partners.

4.3. CTS as agonists of the signaling Na/K-ATPase

Because CTS bind specifically to the Na/K-ATPase with high affinity, and consequently inhibit the pumping function of the enzyme, it is generally accepted that the Na/K-ATPase serves as a receptor for CTS. However, if the ion pumping activity of the Na/K-ATPase is considered as the receptor function, CTS have to be termed as inverse agonists because they stabilize the receptor in its inactive state and inhibit the basal activity of the receptor. The newly appreciated signaling function of the Na/K-ATPase, on the other hand, will make CTS true agonists of the receptor. As discussed in the above paragraphs, the binding of CTS to the signaling Na/K-ATPase will convert the Na/K-ATPase/Src complex from an inactive conformation to an active conformation, resulting in tyrosine phosphorylation and subsequent assembly of down-stream signaling complexes. classification is important for understanding the physiological function of endogenous CTS. It is well accepted that under normal physiological conditions, the endogenous CTS circulate at sub-nano molar concentrations. At such low concentration, they can only bind to less than 1% of cell surface Na/K-ATPase. Because most of mammalian cells contain about 1 million pump molecules per cell (40-42), inhibition of such small amount of the surface pump cannot cause significant change in intracellular Na+ and K+ concentration. Thus, it is highly inefficient for CTS to function as inverse agonists to provoke sufficient signals against the large pumping capacity of the cells. On the other hand, activation of 1% of the signaling Na/K-ATPase/Src complexes by CTS shall produce at least a few thousand active molecules per cell. Based on the findings of EGF signaling in HeLa cells (43), this shall be sufficient to generate strong signals via kinase cascades, especially if the signaling event occurs in caveolae or other membrane microdomains (16).

In short, recent studies from our laboratory as well as others have demonstrated that mammalian cell Na/K-ATPase interacts with various membrane and cytosolic proteins, thus serving as a classic signaling

receptor. Binding of an agonist (e.g., ouabain) to the signaling Na/K-ATPase activates Src, which results in tyrosine phosphorylation of down-stream proteins and subsequent assembly of different signaling cascades. This signaling function of the Na/K-ATPase, not its pumping function, depends on the ability of the enzyme to interact with its partners. Furthermore, the cell-specific signaling may arise from the cell-specific or compartment-specific expression of the partners of the signaling Na/K-ATPase. However, it is important to note that the ion pumping function of the enzyme may also contribute/interfere with the above mentioned signaling pathways or act independently to change cellular function if the Na/K-ATPase fails to balance intracellular ion concentration. This can occur when the Na/K-ATPase is significantly inhibited by CTS and other factors. This also transpires when the plasma membrane enzyme is reduced due to either increased endocytosis (chronic over-stimulation by CTS) or decreased delivery of the enzyme (inhibition of the expression of Na/K-ATPase).

4.4. Regulation of cardiac function by the signaling Na/K-ATPase $\,$

4.4.1. CTS and inotropy

The inotropic effects of digitalis on the heart are well documented (4-7). Although it is accepted by the field that these effects involve the pumping function of the Na/K-ATPase and Na⁺-Ca²⁺-exchanger (NCX) (4-7), early work did suggest that the activation of protein kinases and Ca²⁺ channels also participated (44,45). Using cultured cardiac myocytes as a model, we found that the activation of protein tyrosine kinases by ouabain preceded increases in [Ca²⁺]_i (11), which has led us to test whether the signal transducing function of Na-K-ATPase contributes to inotropic effects of ouabain on myocytes. These studies have revealed the following. First, the cardiac signaling Na/K-ATPase resided with Src. EGFR, and ERKs in caveolae (38). Second, ouabain activated the Na/K-ATPase/Src complex in cultured cardiac myocytes as well as isolated hearts at the concentrations that induced positive inotropy (11,46,47). Subsequently, the activated Src transactivated EGFR, resulting in the activation of Ras/ERK cascade. It is important to note that the above signaling events occur not only in ouabain-insensitive rodent hearts, but also the ouabain-sensitive guinea pig heart (47). Third, ouabain caused a significant increase in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in a Src and Ras-dependent manner in cardiac myocytes (48). Inhibition of mitochondrial site III or blocking mitochondrial K_{ATP} channel by 5-HD significantly reduced ouabain-induced ROS production, indicating that ouabain stimulated mitochondrial ROS production via pathways that open the K_{ATP} channel in a Src and Ras-dependent manner (10). Third, inhibition of either Src or Ras also abolishes ouabain-induced increases in both [Ca²⁺]_i and contractility. Interestingly, although activation of ERKs was required for ouabain-induced increases in [Ca²⁺]_i, both ERKs and ROS contribute to ouabain regulation of cardiac contraction (46). Fourth, the effects of ouabain on [Ca²⁺]_i, at least in part, are due to the activation of L-type Ca² channels. This activation is most likely evoked by ERKmediated phosphorylation of the channels as demonstrated

in neuronal cells (49). Finally, ouabain regulation of cardiac contractility also involves opening of mitochondrial K_{ATP} and resultant increases in ROS production (46). Thus, ouabain regulates cardiac contractility via activation of at least two major pathways. Activation of ERKs and inhibition of the ion pumping function of the Na/K-ATPase by ouabain increased [Ca²⁺]_i whereas opening of mitoK_{ATP} stimulated the production of ROS. Both [Ca²⁺]_i and ROS, in turn, worked in concert and raised contractility in cardiac myocytes. This notion is supported by a recent report showing that ouabain was able to stimulate contraction in myocytes that were incubated in Na⁺-free medium (50). These observations need to be replicated in the isolated heart and whole animals; nevertheless, it is important to note the significance of these studies. First, these findings suggest that stimulation of the signaling function of Na/K-ATPase alone may be sufficient to increase cardiac contractility. Because the signaling function can be separated from the pumping function of the enzyme, these data point to the possibility of developing a new class of agonists that only activate the signaling function of the Na/K-ATPase. Second, because the opening of the mitoK_{ATP} channel participates in ischemic preconditioning (51), it will be of great interest to test whether digitalis drugs, especially the future agonists that only affect the signaling function of the Na/K-ATPase, can protect the heart from ischemic injury. Finally, it is important to note that these new findings are not in conflict with what has been learned about the role of intracellular Na⁺ or Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger in regulation of intracellular calcium (52-54). As a matter of fact, both mechanisms could operate in concert or in a loop in regulation of intracellular calcium because increases in intracellular calcium can affect many signaling events activated by ouabain and activation of the signaling function of the Na/K-ATPase may regulate the coupling between different membrane transporters (e.g. Na/K-ATPase and Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger).

4.4.2. CTS and hypertrophic growth

Cardiac hypertrophy represents an independent risk factor for development of congestive heart failure. There has been a long-standing interest in whether CTS regulate cardiac growth. Based on clinical observations, Christian maintained that "in patients with heart disease but not heart failure, digitalis retarded cardiac enlargement and delayed the appearance of symptoms of cardiac insufficiency" (55). This observation prompted investigators to use various animal models to study the effects of CTS on cardiac hypertrophy. These early studies produced rather inconsistent results, showing that digitalis induced or amplified cardiac hypertrophy, or that digitalis had no effect on cardiac growth or prevented overloadinduced cardiac hypertrophy (56-58). Because overloadinduced hypertrophy of the heart in an intact animal is due to a complex interplay of changes in a multitude of mechanic and neurohumoral stimuli, treatment of intact animals with digitalis adds not only another growth stimulus that acts on myocardium directly, but also a drug that, through its well-established neural and vascular effects, can exacerbate existing pathophysiological stimuli. Furthermore, the different ouabain sensitivities of the experimental animals add another layer of complexity to

these studies. To directly address the effect of CTS on cardiac growth, several years ago we determined whether ouabain stimulated hypertrophic growth in cultured neonatal rat cardiac myocytes (59-61). These in vitro studies demonstrated that ouabain increased protein synthesis, cell size and contractile protein contents. In addition, ouabain behaved similarly as other hypertrophic stimuli, inducing expression of several fetal genes and suppressing the expression of the alpha3 isoform of the Na/K-ATPase in the cultured myocytes. Interestingly, ouabain also activated the expression of TGF-beta1, suggesting that it may activate a cardiac fibrosis pathway. Mechanistically, ouabain activated several pathways that are well characterized in hypertrophied heart (48,62). Specifically, it activated the Ras/ERK pathways and increased intracellular calcium and mitochondrial production of ROS. Remarkably, the addition of antioxidants such as N-acetyl cysteine and tea polyphenol compounds prevented ouabain from the induction of hypertrophic growth in cardiac myocytes (48). It is important to note that CTS other than ouabain also stimulate hypertrophic growth and that marinobufagenin appears to be more potent than ouabain in inducing this effect in rat cardiac myocytes (72). Several recent in vivo studies support our *in vitro* findings. First, a recent study endogenous ouabain and left-ventricular mass demonstrated a correlation between plasma ouabain concentration and increases in left-ventricular mass in human subjects (63); this correlation exists even when the blood pressure is accounted for. In addition, rats infused with nM concentrations of ouabain were found to develop cardiac hypertrophy (64). Clearly, activation of the signaling function of the Na/K-ATPase by CTS can result in hypertrophic growth in cardiac myocytes. However, it remains to be determined as to which endogenous CTS (ouabain vs marinobufagenin) plays a major role in the activation of signaling functions of the Na/K-ATPase under different disease states (see Bagrov's review for detail).

4.4.3. Endogenous CTS and down-regulation of the Na/K-ATPase in the diseased heart

Recently, Lingrel's laboratory has provided solid evidence that the Na/K-ATPase plays an important role in regulation of cardiac function (54). They found that the knockout one copy of the alpha1 isoform gene resulted in 50% reduction of the alpha1 protein in the mouse heart. Consequently, it caused a significant decrease in myocardial contractility. Interestingly, lowering of extracellular Ca²⁺ exacerbated the decrease in contractility in the hearts of these alpha1+/- mice, indicating that the dominant alpha1 isoform of Na/K-ATPase is essential for normal functions of the Ca²⁺ handling machinery of the heart. These findings are significant because many prior studies have shown that both Na/K-ATPase proteins and enzymatic activity are significantly reduced in failing human hearts (65,66). Reduction in the Na/K-ATPase activity was also seen in several animal models of hypertensive and other forms of cardiomyopathies (67-72). Interestingly, circulating endogenous cardiotonic steroids are elevated significantly in both CHF patients and animals who suffered from hypertension, renal failure and heart failure (24). Notably, a recent human study has indicated

that plasma marinobufagenin level can serve, like brain natriuretic peptide or atrial natriuretic peptide, as a marker of CHF severity (73). However, while brain natriuretic peptide reduces cardiac stress by removal of Na+ and water from the circulation, increases in plasma marinobufagenin due to diminished cardiac function could act as norepinephrine and cause more stress on the diseased heart by stimulating hypertrophic growth and increasing contraction of cardiac myocytes (59-61). Because the sustained increases in CTS also correlate inversely with the surface contents of the Na/K-ATPase in failed cardiac myocytes, we suggest that the sustained increase in CTS is a mal-adaptive response that could result in the reduction of surface Na/K-ATPase by stimulating endocytosis of the signaling Na/K-ATPase and subsequent transcriptional down-regulation of the enzyme in the heart due to the activation of hypertrophic pathways (34,48,59). We emphasize this occurs as a mal-adaptive response because we would expect that physiological changes in CTS could have a different effect on the Na/K-ATPase. This notion is supported by many animal studies. Pressureoverload, for example, reduced Na/K-ATPase activity by more than 60% in the hypertrophied rat heart (69,70). Since total cellular alpha1 contents were not significantly reduced, the surface $\alpha 1$ isoform is most likely removed by endocytosis as we saw in the cultured cells as well as in intact renal tubules (34). On the other hand, it is well established that pressure overload also down-regulates the expression of the alpha2 isoform transcriptionally (70). Since Na/K-ATPase is coupled with other transporters and plays a key role in regulation of intracellular ion concentrations, significant decreases in ion transporting capacity would certainly impair both contractile and conducting functions of the heart by altering the intracellular calcium, especially under stress conditions (54). This scenario is reminiscent of the changes in the adrenergic receptors seen in the hypertrophied hearts (74). The new paradigm for clinic management of CHF patients calls for unloading the stressed heart (e.g., using beta-blockers) (75). This practice is derived from the understanding that further stress of the diseased heart will eventually kill the heart. Because digitalis drugs, especially when used at high doses, stimulate cardiac contraction and hypertrophic growth, they could, at least in principle, exacerbate the heart chronically although they improve the cardiac performance acutely.

5. TARGETING THE SIGNALING NA/K-ATPASE FOR NEW DRUG DEVELOPMENT

As discussed in the above sections, while the signaling Na/K-ATPase plays an important role for maintaining cardiac function, over-stimulating the same group of receptors may contribute to the development of cardiac hypertrophy and dysfunction of cardiac contractile and conducting functions chronically. Thus, development of agents that can specifically antagonize or stimulate the signaling function without affecting the pumping function of the Na/K-ATPase will not only provide researchers with new tools for studying the signaling Na/K-ATPase, but also offer novel approaches to various cardiac diseases.

5.1. Development of antagonistic agents

Improvements in ejection fraction, exercise tolerance, and mortality have been observed in CHF

patients treated chronically with beta-antagonists such as metoprolol and carvedilol (74,75). These drugs prevent the over-stimulation of the receptor and the resultant toxic effect on myocyte. Eventually, these drugs reduce cardiac remodeling and bring a partial recovery of CHF-associated derangements in gene expression and cardiac function including those constituting the signaling and Ca2+handling machinery down-stream from the receptor. Since plasma membrane Na/K-ATPase is down-regulated in failing human hearts, administration of drugs that prevent over-stimulation of the signaling Na/K-ATPase might work as beta-adrenergic antagonists. This notion appears to be supported by a recent report that analyzes the clinic data from The Digitalis Investigation Group Trial (76). Although digoxin treatment did not change the overall mortality in CHF patients, there is a strong association of high serum digoxin concentration with increases in mortality in CHF patients. The data shows that patients with serum digoxin at 1.2 ng/ml or higher had an 11.8% increase in mortality rate compared with patients receiving placebo. It is important to note that in most of CHF patients' serum ouabain and marinobufagenin levels have already elevated. In severe CHF patients, the amount of marinobufagenin equals about 1.2 ng/ml of digoxin in term of its ability to bind and inhibit the Na/K-ATPase (73). Thus, it is conceivable that treatment of severe CHF patients with digoxin or other digitalis could over-stimulate the signaling function and concomitantly over-inhibit the pumping function of cardiac Na/K-ATPase, which may act as a beta1-adrenergic receptor agonist. This could improve cardiac function initially, but would eventually worsen the heart and increase the mortality. Therefore, we speculate that employment of a drug that functionally antagonizes the effects of CTS on the heart may offer a better means for reducing mortality rate in the severe CHF patients. Needless to say, many issues remain to be experimentally tested. For example, it will be of interest to determine the levels of both digitalis drug and endogenous CTS, and correlate the values to clinic outcomes of these patients. Nevertheless, it is important to discuss the potential means of developing drugs that can antagonize the effects of CTS on the heart.

Literature review indicates that there are several potential means to prevent over-stimulation of the CTS receptor. The first approach is to develop a pure CTS antagonist that binds to the receptor and antagonizes CTS from activation of the signaling Na/K-ATPase. The newly developed PST 2238 (17b-(3-furyl)-5b-androstan-3b,14b,17a-triol) appears to fit in this class (64). PST 2238 displaces ouabain from its binding to the purified Na/K-ATPase in vitro. In animal studies it antagonized ouabaininduced hypertension. More significantly, a recent study demonstrated that PST 2238 prevented ouabain from induction of cardiac hypertrophy in rat and that this effect appeared to be independent of its effect on blood pressure because lowering blood pressure by calcium blocker did not prevent the effects of ouabain on cardiac growth. At the molecular level, administration of PST 2238 prevented ouabain-induced formation of the active Na/K-ATPase/Src complex. Although this compound was developed for the therapy of hypertension, these new findings warrant further

study on its effectiveness in reversing/suppressing the cardiac remodeling in other animal models and, eventually, its effectiveness on CHF shall be tested. The second approach is to develop anti-Na/K-ATPase or anti-CTS antibodies. There is strong evidence that antibodies to various receptors can function as effective antagonists (77-79). For example, anti-EGFR antibodies have been proven to be effective in blocking the activation of the receptor and some of these antibodies are in clinic trial for therapy of certain cancers (78). It will be of interest to test whether antibodies raised against the extracellular domains of the Na/K-ATPase can block ouabain-induced transduction in both in vitro and in vivo kinase assays. Alternatively, anti-CTS antibodies could also be utilized to block the effect of CTS on the signaling Na/K-ATPase. For instance, anti-digoxin antibodies have been successively used to treat digoxin or digitoxin intoxication in CHF patients treated with these drugs. The same antibodies appear to also be effective clinically in preeclampsia. These antibodies effectively compete with the Na/K-ATPase for the binding of CTS. Significantly, a recent study by Bagrov has demonstrated that administration of anti-marinobufagenin antibodies was effective in antagonizing the hypertensive effect of high salts in rat (80). The third approach is to target the distal pathways from the receptor. For example, we reported several years ago that addition of antioxidants prevented ouabain from induction of hypertrophic growth in cultured neonatal cardiac myocytes (48). Interestingly, supplementation of tea pigments and tea polyphenols such as EGCG in drinking water was also found to be effective in reduction of cardiac hypertrophy in 5/6 nephrectomized rats (71,72).

5.2. Development of agonistic agents

The Na/K-ATPase exhibits dual functions. Binding of CTS to the Na/K-ATPase not only activates the receptor-mediated signal transduction, but also inhibits the pumping function of the enzyme. Because the amount of plasma membrane Na/K-ATPase is significantly reduced in the diseased cardiac myocytes, additional inhibition of the pumping function by CTS drugs will certainly exacerbate the derangement of intracellular ion regulation. This notion is supported by the clinic observation that CHF patients treated with digoxin or digitoxin are prone to develop ventricular tachycardia due to increases in intracellular Na+ and the resultant calcium overload. In vitro studies using cultured cardiac myocytes as a model also revealed that severe inhibition (about 40%) of the surface Na/K-ATPase resulted in a significant rise in intracellular Na⁺ and the resultant Ca2+ overload due to the inhibition of Na+/Ca2+ exchanger (11). Thus, it is desirable to develop agents that only provoke the receptor function of the Na/K-ATPase. In principle, the same approaches discussed in the above paragraph can be used. Because the activation of Src appears to be the earliest event of the signaling process evoked by the binding of ouabain to the Na/K-ATPase, we have recently attempted to establish an in vitro assay for studying the effects of various chemicals on the Na/K-ATPase/Src interaction. Interestingly, preliminary studies indicated that unlike ouabain, several known Na/K-ATPase inhibitors failed to stimulate the Na/K-ATPase/Src complex

in membrane preparations. These findings not only support the notion that inhibition of the ATPase can be dissociated from the activation of Src, but also demonstrate the feasibility of using this assay to screen for the agonist of the signaling Na/K-ATPase.

There are many reports in the literature showing that anti-receptor antibodies can also function as agonists and directly activate the receptor (77, 79). For instance, early studies of insulin receptors had led to the identification of anti-insulin receptor antibodies in the serum of diabetic patients who were resistant to insulin therapy (77). Many of these antibodies blocked receptor activation in response to insulin. Similarly, recent studies also revealed that auto-antibodies to the beta1-adrenergic receptor not only stimulate the beta1-receptor, but also act as classic beta-agonist such as isoproterenol, causing cardiomyopathy (78). Interestingly, Xu's laboratory recently reported that antibodies raised against the Na/K-ATPase appeared to function as an agonist for the signaling Na/K-ATPase (81). The antibody appears to have no effect on enzymatic activity, but block the binding of ouabain to the Na/K-ATPase. Interestingly, when applied to cardiac myocytes, it acted as ouabain and increased intracellular calcium, thus contractility. Needless to say, it remains to be tested whether this antibody can activate the signaling function of the Na/K-ATPase in cardiac myocytes.

6. CONCLUSION

The work of the past few years has demonstrated that Na/K-ATPase is an important signaling receptor. This has changed our view on how CTS work under both physiological and pathological conditions. Recent work from many laboratories has begun to define the Na/K-ATPase signalosome and to map the functional domains that are involved in the organization of the individual signaling module. The new information will certainly reshape the focus of the field and direct us to establish new molecular targets for the development of specific agonists and antagonists of the signaling Na/K-ATPase during the next few years. Clearly, development of these chemicals will not only provide us with new tools for studying the signaling Na/K-ATPase, but also give physicians novel therapeutics for treatment of cardiovascular diseases as well as other illnesses.

7. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by NIH grants HL-36573, HL-63238, and HL-67963 awarded by NHLBI.

8. REFERENCES

- 1. Skou JC: The influence of some cations on an adenosine triphosphatase from peripheral nerves. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 23, 394–401 (1957)
- 2. Lingrel JB & T. Kuntzweiler: Na, K⁺-ATPase. *J Biol Chem* 269, 19659–19662 (1994)

- 3. Sweadner KJ: Isozymes of the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 988, 185-220 (1989)
- 4. Kaplan JH: Biochemistry of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase. *Annu Rev Biochem* 71, 511–535 (2002)
- 5. Akera T & T.M. Brody: Inotropic action of digitalis and ion transport. *Life Sci* 18, 135–142 (1976)
- 6. Schwartz, A, G. Grupp, E. Wallick, I.L. Grupp & W.J. Ball Jr: Role of the Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase in the cardiotonic action of cardiac glycosides. *Prog Clin Biol Res* 268B, 321–338 (1988)
- 7. Barry, WH, Y. Hasin & T.W. Smith: Sodium pump inhibition, enhanced calcium influx via sodium–calcium exchange, and positive inotropic response in cultured heart cells. *Circ Res* 56, 231–241 (1985)
- 8. Xie Z:. Ouabain interaction with cardiac Na⁺-K⁺– ATPase reveals that the enzyme can act as a pump and a signal transducer. *Cell Mol Biol* 47, 383–390 (2001)
- 9. Szamel M, S. Schneider & K. Resch: Functional interrelationship between Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase and lysolecithin acyltransferase in plasma membrane of mitogen-stimulated rabbit thymocytes. *J Biol Chem* 256, 9198–9204 (1981)
- 10. Liu J, J. Tian, M. Haas, J.I. Shapiro, A. Askari & Z. Xie: Ouabain interaction with cardiac Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase initiates signal cascades independent of changes in intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺. *J Biol Chem* 275, 27838–27844 (2000)
- 11. Tian J, X. Gong & Z. Xie: Signal-transducing function of Na^+/K^+ -ATPase is essential for ouabain's effect on $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in rat cardiac myocytes. *Am J Physiol* 281, H1899–H1907 (2001)
- 12. Aydemir-Koksoy A, J. Abramowitz & J.C. Allen: Ouabain induced signaling and vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation. *J Biol Chem* 276, 46605–46611 (2001)
- 13. Aizman O, P. Uhlen, M. Lal, H. Brismar & A. Aperia: Ouabain, a steroid hormone that signals with slow calcium oscillations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98, 13420–13424 (2001)
- 14. Haas M, A. Askari & Z. Xie: Involvement of Src and epidermal growth factor receptor in the signal transducing function of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. *J Biol Chem* 275, 27832–27837 (2000)
- 15.Haas M, H. Wang, J. Tian & Z. Xie: Z Src-mediated interceptor cross-talk between the Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase and the EGF receptor relays the signal from ouabain to mitogenactivated protein kinases. *J Biol Chem* 277, 18694–18702 (2002)
- 16. Wang H, M. Haas, T. Cai, J. Tian, M. Liang, S. Li, & Z. Xie: Ouabain assembles signaling cascades through the caveolar Na^+/K^+ -ATPase. *J Biol Chem* 279, 17250-17259 (2004)

- 17. Axelsen K.B & M.G. Palmgren: Evolution of substrate specificities in the P-type ATPase superfamily. *J Mol Evol* 46, 84–101 (1998)
- 18. Toyoshima C, M. Nakasako, H. Normura & H. Ogawa: Crystal structure of the calcium pump of sarcoplasmic reticulum at 2.6 A resolution. *Nature (London)* 405, 647-655 (2000)
- 19. Sweadner KJ. & C. Donnet: Structural similarities of Na,K-ATPase and SERCA, the Ca²⁺-ATPase of the sarcoplasmic reticulum. *Biochem J* 356, 685-704 (2001)
- 20. Nelson W.J & P.J. Veshnock: Ankyrin binding to Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase and implications for the organization of membrane domains in polarized cells. *Nature* 328, 533–536 (1987)
- 21. Yudowski G.A, R. Efendiev, C.H. Pedemonte, A.I. Katz, P. Berggren & A.M. Bertorello: Phosphoinositide-3 kinase binds to a proline-rich motif in the Na $^+$,K $^+$ -ATPase α subunit and regulates its trafficking. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 6556–6561 (2000)
- 22. Lee K, J. Jung, M. Kim & G. Guidotti: Interaction of the alpha subunit of Na^+,K^+ -ATPase with cofilin. *Biochem J* 353, 377–385 (2001)
- 23. Zhang Z, P. Devarajan, A.L. Dorfman & J.S. Morrow: Structure of the ankyrin-binding domain of alpha- Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase. *J Biol Chem* 273, 18681–18684 (1998)
- 24. Schoner W: Endogenous cardiac glycosides, a new class of steroid hormones. *Eur J Biochem* 269, 2440–2448 (2002)
- 25. Hamlyn J.M, M.P. Blaustein, S. Bova, D.W. Ducharme, D.W. Harris, F. Mandel, W.R. Mathews & J.H. Ludens: Identification and characterization of a ouabain-like compound from human plasma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 81, 6259–6263 (1991)
- 26. Fedorova O.V, P.A. Doris & A.Y. Bagrov: Endogenous marinobufagenin-like factor in acute plasma volume expansion. *Clin Exp Hypertens* 20, 581–591 (1998)
- 27. Laredo J., J.R. Shah, Z.R. Lum, B.P. Hamilton & J.M. Hamlyn: Angiotensin II stimulates secretion of endogenous ouabain from bovine adrenocortical cells via angiotensin type 2 receptors. *Hypertension* 29, 401–407 (1997)
- 28. Denker S. P & D.L. Barber: Ion transport proteins anchor and regulate the cytoskeleton. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 14, 214-220 (2002)
- 29. Tanner M. J: Band 3 anion exchanger and its involvement in erythrocyte and kidney disorders. *Curr Opin Hemato.* 9, 133-139 (2002)
- 30. Pressley T.A: Ionic regulation of Na,K-ATPase expression. *Semin Nephrol* 12, 67–71 (1992)

- 31. Kaplan J.G: Membrane cation transport and the control of proliferation of mammalian cells. *Annu Rev Physiol* 40, 19–41 (1978)
- 32. Xie Z & T. Cai: Na+-K+--ATPase-mediated signal transduction: from protein interaction to cellular function. *Mol Interv* 3, 157-168 (2003)
- 33. Hunter T: Signaling--2000 and beyond. *Cell* 100, 113-27 (2000)
- 34. Liu J, R. Kesiry, S.M. Periyasamy, D. Malhotra, Z. Xie & J.I. Shapiro: Ouabain induces endocytosis of plasmalemmal Na/K-ATPase in LLC-PK1 cells by a clathrin-dependent mechanism. *Kidney Int* 66, 227-241 (2004)
- 35. Liu J, S. Periyasamy, W. Gunning, O. Fedorova, A.Y. Bagrov, D. Malhotra, Z. Xie & J.I. Shapiro: Effects of cardiac glycosides on sodium pump expression and function in LLC-PK1 and MDCK cells. *Kidney Int* 62, 2118-2125 (2002)
- 36. Liu P, M. Rudick & R.G. Anderson: Multiple functions of caveolin-1. *J Biol Chem* 277, 41295–41298 (2002)
- 37. Razani, B, Woodman, S.E. and Lisanti, M.P. Caveolae: From cell biology to animal physiology. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 54, 431–467 (2002)
- 38. Liu L, K. Mohammadi, B. Aynafshar H. Wang, D. Li, J. Liu, A.V. Ivanov, Z. Xie & A. Askari: Role of caveolae in the signal transducing function of cardiac Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. *Am J Physiol* 284, C1550-C1560 (2003)
- 39. Liu L, J. Abramowitz, A. Askari & J.C. Allen: Role of caveolae in ouabain-induced proliferation of cultured vascular smooth muscle cells of the synthetic phenotype. *Am J Physiol* 287:H2173-H2182 (2004)
- 40. Baker P.F & J.S. Willis: On the number of sodium pumping sites inc ell membranes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 183, 646-649 (1969)
- 41. Baker P. F & J.S. Willis: Potassium ions and the binding of cardiac glycosides to mammalian cells. *Nature* 226, 521-523 (1970)
- 42. McCall D: Cation exchange and glycoside binding in cultured rat heart cells. *Am J Physiol* 236, C87-C95 (1979)
- 43. Berkers, J. A, P.M. van Bergen en Henegouwen & J. Boonstra: Three classes of epidermal growth factor receptors on HeLa cells. *J Biol Chem* 266, 922-927 (1991)
- 44. Marban E & R.W. Tsien: Enhancement of calcium current during digitalis inotropy in mammalian heart: Positive feed-back regulation by intracellular calcium? *J Physiol* 329, 589–614 (1982)
- 45. Lederer W.J & D.A. Eisner: The effects of sodium pump activity on the slow inward current in sheep cardiac

- Purkinje fibres. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 214, 249–262 (1982)
- 46. Tian J, J. Liu, J.I. Shapiro, K. Garlid & Z. Xie: Involvement of mitogen-activated protein kinases and reactive oxygen species in the inotropic action of ouabain on cardiac myocytes. A potential role for mitochondrial K_{ATP} channels. *Mol Cell Biochem* 242, 181-187 (2003)
- 47.Mohammadi K, L. Liu, J. Tian, P. Kometiani, Z. Xie & A. Askari: The positive inotropic effects of ouabain on the isolated heart is accompanied by the activation of signal pathways that link Na/K-ATPase to ERK1/2. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 41, 609-614 (2003)
- 48. Xie Z, P. Kometiani, J. Liu, J. Li, J.I. Shapiro & A. Askari: Intracellular reactive oxygen species mediate the linkage of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase to hypertrophy and its marker genes in cardiac myocytes. *J Biol Chem* 274, 19323–19328 (1999)
- 49. Fitzgerald, E.M: Regulation of voltage-dependent calcium channels in rat sensory neurones involves a Rasmitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. *J Physiol* 527, 433–444 (2000).
- 50. Nishio M, S.W. Ruch & J.A. Wasserstrom: Positive inotropic effects of ouabain in isolated cat ventricular myocytes in sodium-free conditions. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 283, H2045–H2053 (2002)
- 51. Garlid K.D, P. Paucek, V. Yarov-Yarovoy, H.N. Murray, R.B. Darbenzio, A.J. D'Alonzo, N.J. Lodge, M.A. Smith & G.J. Grover: Cardioprotective effect of diazoxide and its interaction with mitochondrial ATP-sensitive K^t channels. Possible mechanism of cardioprotection. *Circ Res* 81, 1072–1082 (1997)
- 52. James P.F, I.L. Grupp, A.L. Woo, G.W. Askew, M.L. Croyle, R.A. Walsh & J.B. Lingrel: Identification of a specific role for the Na/K-ATPase alpha2 isoform as a regulator of calcium in the heart. *Mol Cell* 3, 555-563 (1999)
- 53. Dostanic I, J.E.J. Schultz, J.N. Lorenz & J.B. Lingrel: The alpha1 isoform of Na/K-ATPase regulates cardiac contractility and functionally interacts and co-localizes with the Na/Ca exchanger in heart. *J Biol Chem* 279, 54053-54061 (2004)
- 54. Moseley A.E, M.H. Cougnon, I.L. Grupp, J.E. Schultz & J.B. Lingrel: Attenuation of cardiac contractility in Na,K-ATPase alpha1 isoform-deficient hearts under reduced calcium conditions. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 37, 913-919 (2004)
- 55. Christian H.A: The use of digitalis other than in the treatment of cardiac decompensation. *JAMA* 100, 789–792 (1933)
- 56. Williams J.F. Jr & E. Braunwald: Studies on digitalis XI. Effects of digitoxin on the development of cardiac

- hypertrophy in the rat subjected to aortic constriction. *Am J Cardiol* 16, 534–539 (1965)
- 57. Cutilletta A.F, M. Rudnik, R.A. Arcilla & R. Straube: Effect of prophylactic digitalization on the development of myocardial hypertrophy. *Am J Physiol* 233, H600–H604 (1977)
- 58. Wendt L, M.P. Geppert & H. Hesse: Uber die beziehungen zwischen herzhypertrophie und digitalis wirkung. *Virchows Archiv Abt B Zellpathol.* 210, 291–325 (1951)
- 59. Huang L, H. Li & Z. Xie: Ouabain-induced hypertrophy in cultured cardiac myocytes is accompanied by changes in expressions of several late response genes. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 29, 429–437 (1997)
- 60. Huang L, P. Kometiani, & Z. Xie: Differential regulation of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase alpha-subunit isoform gene expressions in cardiac myocytes by ouabain and other hypertrophic stimuli. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 29, 3157–3167 (1997)
- 61. Peng M, L. Huang, Z. Xie, W.H. Huang & A. Askari: Partial inhibition of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase by ouabain induces the Ca²⁺-dependent expressions of early-response genes in cardiac myocytes. *J Biol Chem* 271, 10372–10378 (1996)
- 62. Kometiani P, J. Li, L. Gnudi, B.B. Kahn, A. Askari & Z. Xie: Multiple signal transduction pathways link Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase to growth-related genes in cardiac myocytes: The roles of Ras and mitogen-activated protein kinases. *J Biol Chem* 273, 15249–15256 (1998)
- 63. Pierdomenico S.D, A. Bucci, P. Manunta, R. Rivera, M. Ferrandi, J.M. Hamlyn, D. Lapenna, F. Cuccurullo & A. Mezzetti: Endogenous ouabain and hemodynamic and left ventricular geometric patterns in essential hypertension. *Am J Hypertens* 14, 44–50 (2001)
- 64. Ferrandi M, I. Molinari, P. Barassi, E, Nubittum G, Buabcgu & O, Ferrari: Organ hypertrophic signaling within caveolae membrane subdomains triggered by ouabain and antagonized by PST 2238. *J Biol Chem* 279, 33306-33314 (2004)
- 65. Schwinger R.H.G, J. Wang, K. Frank, J. Muller-Ehmsen, K. Brixius, A.A. McDonough & E. Erdmann: Reduced sodium pump alpha₁, alpha₃, and beta₁-isoform protein levels and Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity but unchanged Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger protein levels in human heart failure. *Circulation* 99, 2105-2112 (1999)
- 66. Larsen J.S, T.A. Schmidt, H. Bundgaard & K. Kjeldsen: Reduced concentration of myocardial Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase in human aortic valve disease as well as of Na⁺,K⁺- and Ca²⁺-ATPase in rodents with hypertrophy. *Mol Cell Biochem* 169, 85-93 (1997)

- 67. Herrera V.L.M, A.V. Chobanian & N. Ruiz-Opazo: Isoform-specific modulation of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase alphasubunit gene expression in hypertension. *Science* 241, 221-223 (1988)
- 68. Pierce G.N & N.S. Dhalla: Sarcolemmal Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity in diabetic rat heart. *Am J Physiol* 245, C241-C247 (1983)
- 69. Charlemagne D, J. Orlowski, P. Oliviera, F. Rannout, C.S. Beuve, B. Sarynghedauw & L.K. Lane: Alteration of Na,K-ATPase subunit mRNA and protein levels in hypertrophied rat heart. *J Biol Chem* 269, 1541-1547 (1994)
- 70. Herrera V.L.M, A.V. Chobanian & N. Ruiz-Opazo: Isoform-specific modulation of Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase alphasubunit gene expression in hypertension. *Science* 241, 221-223 (1988)
- 71. Kennedy D, E. Omran, S.M. Periyasamy, J. Nadoor, A. Priyadarshi, J.C. Willey, D. Malhotra, Z. Xie & J.I. Shapiro: Effect of chronic renal failure on cardiac contractile function, calcium cycling and gene expression of proteins important for calcium homeostasis in the rat. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 14, 90-97 (2003).
- 72. Priydarshi S, B. Valentine, C. Han, O.V. Fedorova, A.Y. Bagrov, J. Liu, S.M. Periyasamy, D. Kennedy, D. Malhotra, Z. Xie & J.I. Shapiro: J.I. Effect of green tea extract on cardiac hypertrophy following 5/6 nephrectomy in the rat. *Kidney Int* 63, 1785-1790 (2003)
- 73. Fridman A.I, S.A. Matveev, O.V. Agalakova, E.G. Lakatta & A.Y. Bagrov: Marinobufagenin, an endogenous ligand of alpha-1 sodium pump, is a marker of congestive heart failure severity. *J Hypertens* 20, 1189-1194 (2002)
- 74. Reiken S, X.H.T. Wehrens, J.A. Vest, A. Barbone, S. Klotz, D. Mancini, D. Burkhoff & A.R. Marks: Betablockers restore calcium release channel function and improve cardiac muscle performance in human heart failure. *Circulation* 107, 2459-2466 (2003)
- 75. Bristow M.R: Beta-adrenergic receptor blockade in chronic heart failure. *Circulation* 101, 558-569 (2000)
- 76. Rathore S.S, J.P. Curtis, Y. Wang, M.R. Bristow & H.M. Krumholz: Association of serum digoxin concentration and outcomes in patients with heart failure. *JAMA* 289, 871-878 (2003)
- 77. Flier J.S, C.R. Kahn, D.B. Jarrett & J. Roth: The immunology of the insulin receptor. *Immunol Commun* 5, 361-373 (1976)
- 78. Ferguson K.M: Active and inactive conformations of the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Biochem Soc Trans* 32, 742-745 (2004)
- 79. Jahns R, V. Boivin, C. Siegmund, G. Inselmann, M.J. Lohse & F. Boege: Autoantibodies activating human beta1-

Na/K-ATPase and drug development

adrenergic receptors are associated with reduced cardiac function in chronic heart failure. *Circulation* 99, 649-654 (1999)

- 80. Fedorova, O.V, M.I. Talan, N.I. Agalakova, E.G. Lakatta & A.V. Bagrov: Endogenous ligand of alpha (1) sodium pump, marinobufagenin, is a novel mediator of sodium chloride-dependent hypertension. *Circulation* 105, 1122-1127 (2002)
- 81. Xu K.Y, E. Takimoto, G.J. Juang, Q. Zhang, H. Rohde & A.C. Myers: Evidence that the H1-H2 domain of alpha1 subunit of (Na+/K+)-ATPase participates in the regulation of cardiac contraction. *FASEB J* 19, 53-61 (2005)

Key Words: Na/K-ATPase, signal transduction, cardiotonic steroids, drug targeting, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr Zijian Xie, Department of Pharmacology and Medicine, Medical College of Ohio, Toledo, OH 43614, USA, Tel: 419-383-4182, Fax: 419-383-2871, E-mail: zxie@mco.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol10.htm